01A 6-3-86

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORE

:

CASE NO. 67,673

PUBLIC HEALTH TRUST OF DADE COUNTY, d/b/a JACKSON MEMORIAL HOSPITAL,

Petitioner,

vs.

GREGORIA VALCIN and GERARD VALCIN, her husband,

Respondents.

Ctiof Deputy Glerk

ON PETITION FOR REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON By MILLER WALTON and GEORGE W. CHESROW Attorneys for Petitioner 900 Alfred I. duPont Building Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 379-6411

WALTON LANTAFF SCHROEDER & CARSON

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 900 ALFRED I. DUPONT BUILDING MIAMI, FLORIDA 33131

INTRODUCTION

This is a petition for review in an action for medical malpractice, wherein the Third District Court of Appeal adopted both a rebuttable, as well as a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence applicable to all hospitals in the State The Third District held that if a hospital is unof Florida. able to locate or account for a surgeon's operative note, then a presumption arises "that the surgical procedure was negligently performed [by the surgeon], which presumption may be rebutted by the hospital by the greater weight of the evidence." However, if a fact finder determines that a hospital "intentionally fails to make or maintain such records," then "a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption that the surgical procedure was negligently performed [by the surgeon] will arise Valcin v. Public Health Trust of Dade County, 473 So.2d 1297, 1306 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984).

Although plaintiff failed to allege any issues in the trial court concerning the existence or adequacy of the surgeon's operative note, the Third District raised this issue for the first time on appeal, and adopted the aforementioned presumptions of negligence based upon a statement made by plaintiff's subsequent treating physician that an operative note which was handwritten by the surgeon failed to satisfy his criteria as to the adequacy of an operative note.

Because of the pervasive effect the Third District's decision will have on the ability of hospitals to deliver health care to the citizens of the state, the Florida Hospital Association, which represents 220 hospitals in the State of Florida, was permitted to intervene in these proceedings following the filing of the Third District's opinion on June 5, 1984. The Third District, on August 20, 1985, modified its opinion on rehearing because, as originally written, the court erroneously placed a duty on hospitals to obtain the patient's informed consent. The court, however, declined to recede from its adoption of either the rebuttable or the conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence of the surgeon. The presumptions adopted by the Third District not only collide with numerous decisions of this Court, but also affect adversely every hospital in the State of Florida.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The respondent, plaintiff below, Gregoria Valcin, asked to be sterilized after she delivered a child while a patient at

Jackson Memorial Hospital in Miami. (R. 265) A Pomeroy tubal ligation was performed on plaintiff six days after she gave birth. (R. 266) A Pomeroy ligation is a procedure whereby intervening sections of the right and left fallopian tubes are surgically removed. (R. 122, 153) Nineteen months after the Pomeroy ligation was performed, plaintiff sustained a ruptured ectopic pregnancy for which she was treated by Daniel Hammond, M.D., at Cedars of Lebanon Hospital. (R. 95, 105)

Dr. Hammond performed a repeat tubal ligation on the plaintiff. (R. 114, 126) According to Dr. Hammond, plaintiff's ectopic pregnancy was caused by the fact that the left tube had recanalized, meaning that the two ends of the tube had grown towards one another, and an opening had reestablished into the tube, requiring Dr. Hammond to repeat the sterilization procedure. (R. 114, 124)

Dr. Hammond explained that ordinarily when the Pomeroy ligation is performed and an intervening knuckle of each tube is removed, the tubes drift apart. (R. 124, 144-145) Dr. Hammond observed that after the earlier Pomeroy ligation was performed on plaintiff, the tubes did not drift apart. (R. 124, 145) According to Dr. Hammond, "there was a scar which represented the area of ligation, but the two ends of the tube were closely proximated on both sides and I would be inclined to think that obviously, the left tube had recanalized under these circum-

^{1/} In this brief "R" refers to Record on Appeal. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

stances." (R. 124) Dr. Hammond stated:

Now, I don't know why this Pomeroy sterilization did not drift apart, like the ordinary sterilization does. I have no idea as to why this didn't occur.

(R. 145) Dr. Hammond concluded that he could only speculate as to why the tube recanalized. (R. 167)

Dr. Hammond observed that plaintiff "did well" following the surgery at Cedars of Lebanon Hospital. (R. 126) He saw her twice in his office for post operative checkups. (R. 126) The plaintiff was discharged from further treatment with instructions to return if she had any problems. (R. 126-127)

After plaintiff was discharged by Dr. Hammond, she brought suit against petitioner, defendant below, the Public Health Trust of Dade County, d/b/a Jackson Memorial Hospital, alleging in three counts that (1) the hospital expressly warranted that the sterilization procedure "would, in fact, make her sterile," and breached the warranty (Count I); (2) "negligently failed to properly advise ... that the Plaintiff ... could become pregnant with an ectopic pregnancy ..." (Count II); and (3) that the sterilization procedure was negligently performed (Count III). (R. 1-6) Defendant answered the complaint and denied the material allegations. (R. 15-16)

There were no allegations in the complaint that the physician who treated plaintiff was negligent in failing to prepare medical records, or that the hospital was negligent in failing to maintain records of plaintiff's care and treatment. Similarly, there were no allegations that plaintiff was fraudulently

induced to consent to the surgery. (R. 1-6)

Plaintiff's treating physician was deposed. Dr. Hammond, who was plaintiff's only medical witness, frankly stated he could not testify as an expert because he was not familiar with the standard of care:

Dr. Hammond, are you presently familiar with what the accepted standard of care is in the community for performing a tubal ligation among the physicians in this community and in asking that question, I don't mean do you have your own personal opinion as to what you think is most effective, but do you have an opinion as to what the general standard is?

- A. No, I do not.
- Q. In this community?
- A. Because I have not inquired about it, number one, and number two, since I've not been involved in obstetrical activities for ten years or so, I have not fraternized with the obstetricians in this sense.

(R. 119-120) Although Dr. Hammond was not familiar with the standard of care, he was critical of the operative note which the attending surgeon had prepared. Dr. Hammond testified there was "an operative note on the progress note" or records of the patient. (R. 154) However, he believed the operative note was not of a "legitimate variety" because, in his opinion, there should have been a separate dictated operative note, "or a note that is written in longhand of a detailed nature," in addition to the operative note on the patient's progress records. (R. 154-155)

Dr. Hammond testified that based upon the hospital records,

plaintiff "had undergone a tubal ligation of a Pomeroy type, presumably, since this was the notation that was made on the progress notes (R. 154) Moreover, Dr. Hammond testified the patient's records did, in fact, reveal that "a bilateral tubal ligation was performed by the Pomeroy method, the operating doctor did make a brief handwritten note and there was a pathology report verifying there was a tubal ligation performed by the Pomeroy method." (R. 169) Given this information, Dr. Hammond testified that even "if the formal operative note had said a Pomeroy ligation was done, this would not really help us know why this one failed," because "Pomeroy ligations fail even when they are done in an ideal situation." (R. 156) Dr. Hammond testified a Pomeroy ligation has a one-half to one percent failure rate (R. 118), which can occur if the tubes recanalize or grow back together, as in this case. (R. 162-163) In fact, he testified:

- Q. Okay. So, what did happen is exactly the same thing that can happen when the tubal ligation is performed by the very finest surgeon and the very finest hospital and the patient has the very finest care that could be provided by anyone anywhere?
- A. That's correct
- (R. 163) Moreover, from the very hospital records which Dr. Hammond was critical of, he testified that "they did what they were supposed to because there were two fragments of tubes that were identified by the pathologist. So, they obviously had taken out an intervening knuckle of tube, which is part of the Pomeroy sterilization." (R. 122)

Dr. Hammond testified that Jackson Memorial Hospital is a teaching hospital utilized by the University of Miami School of Medicine, and that the Pomeroy operation was the method of sterilization used at Jackson Memorial Hospital. (R. 125) Concerning the "performance of the surgery" on plaintiff, Dr. Hammond stated:

A. I could not make any statement concerning the fact that they were negligent because, obviously, they did a Pomeroy sterilization and obviously this is the sterilization that was being done at the medical school

(R. 125)

Although he admitted he was not familiar with the accepted standard of care, Dr. Hammond testified that he would not have performed a tubal ligation six days after delivery, yet he admitted that there was not any causal connection between the timing of the operation and the subsequent ectopic pregnancy. (R. 142-143, 159-160, 167-169)

- Q. You can't make any causal connection, can you, Dr. Hammond, from having done the tubal ligation six days postpartum and then her having the ectopic pregnancy in 1980.
- A. That's correct.

(R. 159)

Dr. Hammond testified that when he, as a doctor, writes medical records, they are at times "rather sketchy and sparse" (R. 100) Although the attending surgeon at Jackson wrote a brief handwritten operative note on the progress chart of the patient, instead of a "formal" operative note, Dr. Hammond

testified "there is enough peripheral evidence to give us information as to what was probably done" (R. 172) The failure to have a formal operative note did not "adversely affect the patient" according to Dr. Hammond. (R. 171) Dr. Hammond testified that the lack of a formal operative note would have made no difference in his evaluation of the treatment rendered at Jackson:

- Q. If you had the operative note from Jackson Memorial Hospital, would that be of assistance to you?
- A. Probably not, because the probability was this was described or would have been described as a Pomeroy ligation, which is a gross ligature. Now, nobody really knows why some of the gross ligature procedures fail and others don't. There is no way to tell why a failure has occurred.

(R. 166)

Although Dr. Hammond was critical of the fact that the surgeon who performed the surgery on Mrs. Valcin wrote "a brief handwritten note" (R. 169), as opposed to "a formal operative note" (R. 155), Dr. Hammond testified that any failure to prepare a formal note did not injure the plaintiff:

- Q. That's not negligence of a doctor that adversely affects the patient, is it, Doctor?
- A. Yes. That's correct.

(R. 171)

On these facts, the Third District held that an operative note does not exist, and that there is a presumption of negligence on the part of the hospital. The Third District also held that the burden of proving that the surgical procedure was properly performed was on the hospital, and that if a fact finder

is not satisfied with the hospital's reasons as to the absence of an operative note that fulfills Dr. Hammond's criteria, a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption that the surgeon had negligently performed the surgical procedure arises in this case. (R. 276-278) In addition, the court held that a jury could find that plaintiff's consent to the surgery was fraudulently obtained. (R. 266)

In order to avoid unduly lengthening this brief, petitioner will refer to additional facts of record in the argument section that follows, especially in regard to the issues of whether plaintiff's consent to the surgery was obtained by fraud.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District Court of Appeal adopted a rebuttable, and a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence that must be applied in this and future cases where either the existence or the adequacy of a hospital's medical records are challenged. The rebuttable, as well as the conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence fail to satisfy the requirements of due process of law. Long standing decisions of this Court establish that presumptions result in a denial of due process unless there is a rational connection between the fact proved and the ultimate fact presumed, and there is a right to rebut in a fair manner. Straughn v. K & K Land Management, Inc., 326 So.2d 421 (Fla. 1976); Black v. State, 77 Fla. 289, 81 So. 411 (Fla. 1919); Goldstein v. Maloney, 62 Fla. 198, 57 So. 342 (Fla. 1911); Whitaker v. Morrison, 1 Fla. 25, 35 (Fla. 1846); Cunningham v. Parikh, 472 So.2d 746 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985).

The conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence fails to satisfy the requirement that there be a right to rebut in a fair manner. Similarly, the rebuttable, and the conclusive, irrebuttable presumptions of negligence are not premised upon and fail to satisfy the requirement of a rational connection between the established fact and the presumed fact.

In adopting the conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence, the Third District overlooked the evidence code which was adopted by the legislature and by this Court. In re Florida Evidence Code, 372 So.2d 1369 (Fla. 1979), 376 So.2d 1161 (Fla. 1979), 404 So.2d 743 (Fla. 1981). According to Section 90.301(2), Florida Statutes, presumptions are rebuttable "except for presumptions that are conclusive under the law from which they arise." The Florida legislature has enumerated specific standards of recovery in actions for medical malpractice, none of which include either a conclusive or a rebuttable presumption of negligence against a hospital. Section 768.45, Florida Statutes. according to the legislative mandate, even the presence of a foreign body in a patient, such as paraphernalia commonly used in surgery, is only "prima facie evidence of negligence on the part of the health care provider." Section 768.45(4), Florida Statutes.

The Third District encroached upon the legislative domain in adopting presumptions of negligence applicable to health care providers. It is peculiarly a legislative function to enact rules of law, such as fashioned by the Third District,

which will significantly change the standards of recovery in medical malpractice actions, contrary to existing legislation. Section 768.45, Florida Statutes.

The Third District's decision requires the fact finder to determine, under appropriate instructions, whether the hospital was negligent or acted intentionally in its inability to produce or account for a surgeon's operative note. If the fact finder, or in this case a jury, determines that the surgeon intentionally failed to prepare a formal operative note, in addition to the handwritten note, or that the hospital's record keeping activities were intentional, a directed verdict on liability will be entered against the hospital, according to the Valcin decision, and the only remaining issue for the jury to decide will be the amount of plaintiff's damages. However, if the jury determines the hospital was negligent in its record keeping activities, the hospital may rebut the presumption that the surgical procedure was negligently performed by the surgeon. If the hospital rebuts the presumption of negligence by the surgeon, the jury is free to decide without aid of the presumption whether, in fact, the surgeon departed from the accepted standard of care, and if so, whether such departure proximately resulted in injury to the plaintiff. Thus, the jury must be allowed to consider evidence on the issue of the hospital's liability, if it determines that the hospital was negligent in its record keeping activities; yet the same jury must be instructed, as a matter of law, to disregard the evidence of the surgeon's compliance with the standard of care in the treatment of the patient, if it determines that the hospital acted intentionally, because in that case the surgeon is conclusively assumed to be negligent in the care and treatment of the patient and a directed verdict on liability will be entered against the hospital. The presumptions adopted by the Third District are therefore unworkable and inequitable in practical operation.

The Third District erroneously decided issues which were never raised below, and granted relief on matters outside the pleadings, in holding that there was evidence to support plaintiff's claim that she was "fraudulently induced" to consent to surgery. In order to allege that a representation was fraudulent, the fraud must be alleged in plaintiff's complaint. American International Land Corp. v. Hanna, 323 So.2d 567, 569-570 (Fla. 1975); Rule 1.120(b), Florida Rules of Civil Procedure. Although fraud was never pled below, the Third District raised this issue for the first time on appeal, and thereby adjudicated an issue entirely outside the pleadings, contrary to this Court's decision in Cortina v. Cortina, 98 So.2d 334, 337 (Fla. 1957).

The defendant is entitled to a summary judgment on the issues of negligence and lack of informed consent because both causes of action require expert medical testimony in order to establish a departure from the accepted standard of care. As plaintiffs' medical witness was not familiar with the accepted standard of care for the performance of a tubal ligation, the trial court correctly found that plaintiffs were without expert medical testimony to support the allegations of the complaint. Sims v. Helms, 345 So.2d 721 (Fla. 1977); Thomas v. Berrios,

348 So.2d 905 (Fla. 2d DCA 1977).

POINTS INVOLVED

Ι

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ADOPTING A REBUTTABLE AS WELL AS A CONCLUSIVE,
IRREBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION OF NEGLIGENCE APPLICABLE TO ALL HOSPITALS IN FLORIDA,
WHERE THE ATTENDING PHYSICIAN PREPARES A
HANDWRITTEN INSTEAD OF A "FORMAL" OPERATIVE NOTE, AND THE EVIDENCE IS UNDISPUTED
THAT THE PATIENT WAS NOT ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE ABSENCE OF A "FORMAL" NOTE.

ΙI

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN HOLD-ING THAT A JURY WAS ENTITLED TO FIND THAT PLAINTIFF'S CONSENT TO SURGERY WAS PROCUR-ED BY FRAUD WHERE PLAINTIFF NEVER ALLEGED THAT SHE WAS FRAUDULENTLY INDUCED TO UNDER-GO SURGERY.

III

WHETHER THE HOSPITAL WAS ENTITLED TO A SUM-MARY JUDGMENT ON THE ISSUES OF NEGLIGENCE AND INFORMED CONSENT WHERE PLAINTIFFS' ONLY MEDICAL WITNESS ADMITTED THAT HE WAS NOT FAMILIAR WITH THE ACCEPTED STANDARD OF CARE, AND THEREFORE PLAINTIFFS WERE WITH-OUT EXPERT TESTIMONY TO ESTABLISH THEIR CLAIMS OF MEDICAL MALPRACTICE AND LACK OF INFORMED CONSENT.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN ADOPTING A REBUTTABLE AS WELL AS A CONCLUSIVE, IRREBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION OF NEGLIGENCE APPLICABLE TO ALL HOSPITALS IN FLORIDA WHERE THE ATTENDING PHYSICIAN PREPARES A HANDWRITTEN INSTEAD OF A "FORMAL" OPERATIVE NOTE, AND THE EVIDENCE IS UNDISPUTED THAT THE PATIENT WAS NOT ADVERSELY AFFECTED BY THE ABSENCE OF A "FORMAL" NOTE.

In <u>Hine v. Fox</u>, 89 So.2d 13, 15 (Fla. 1956), this Court,

in an action for medical malpractice against a physician, held that "in cases involving charges of malpractice against a professional man, negligence will not be presumed but must be proved." The Court, in adopting this rule of law, reasoned that a physician "should not be convicted on speculation or other than reasonable proof of the charge." More recently, this Court in Gooding v. University Hospital Building, Inc., 445 So.2d 1015, 1018 (Fla. 1984), defined the burden of proof in an action for medical malpractice as follows:

To prevail in a medical malpractice case a plaintiff must establish the following: the standard of care owed by the defendant, the defendant's breach of the standard of care, and that said breach proximately caused the damages claimed.

The Third District Court of Appeal ignored this Court's admonition in <u>Hine v. Fox</u>, <u>supra</u>, that "negligence will not be presumed, but must be proved," and adopted for the first time in Florida, two presumptions that will in the future either shift the burden to the hospital to prove that a surgeon was not negligent, or entirely foreclose the hospital from defending the issue of its liability for alleged malpractice, as a result of a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence by a surgeon.

According to the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal, where the existence or the adequacy of an operative note is challenged, either a rebuttable or a conclusive, irrebuttable presumption of negligence of the surgeon will operate in the trial court, depending upon whether the hospital is determined by a fact finder to have acted negligently or intentionally in

its inability to produce or account for the surgeon's operative note.

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