IN THE S

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 67,673

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

For the reasons to be argued, infra, the plaintiffs would respectfully urge this Honorable Court to approve the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, as to both reasoning and result.

It must be stated, at the outset, that the District Court did, on the subject record, hold (only) that if it was shown that plaintiffs' statutory obligation could not be met because the defendant/health care provider caused the loss of evidence, the substance of which these plaintiffs needed to carry their burden, then the defendant/health care provider should not be allowed to automatically "escape" responsibility. Turning to well established precedent the District Court of Appeal, Third District, fashioned a procedure which merely shifted the burden of proof and imposed upon the health care provider:

". . .the burden of proving that the treatment which said missing records would reflect was performed non-negligently; and that where such health care provider intentionally fails to make or maintain such records, the treatment which such missing records would reflect should be deemed negligent and the provider adjudged liable."

Throughout its brief the defendant premises its contentions upon its belief that this case comes down to nothing more (and nothing less) than a "dispute" over the "type" of operative note which would be of sufficient quality to satisfy the defendant's statutory burden of maintaining appropriate hospital To counter this, plaintiffs will continuously hammer throughout their brief that the District Court's decision was premised upon Dr. Hammond's testimony that there existed no operative note of any type! A fair reading of Dr. Hammond's deposition overwhelmingly supports District Court reasoning and finding in this regard. As a consequence, the plaintiffs would urge this Court not to be swayed into believing that on appeal from an adverse summary final judgment the District Court "weighed" the significance of what was in the record. While the defendant would like this Court to believe that the existence of some notations in progress reports equate to an "operative note", to do so would indeed violate general principles of summary judgment law. As to this point, at this stage of the proceedings, there was no operative note! Because there was no operative note, the defendant breached the duty it owed to the plaintiff and the District Court was correct in determining that there existed a need to fashion a particular form

of relief.

The defendant's arguments all seem to be premised upon an improper view of the record. Suffice it to say at this juncture, the deposition testimony of the plaintiff, Mrs. Valcin, establishes the existence of genuine issues of material fact concerning her alleged "informed" consent. Same may be said for the deposition testimony of Dr. Hammond as it relates to the defendant's departure from the requisite standard of care.

The legal arguments advanced by the defendant [addressed to its dissatisfaction with the opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District] overlook completely the defendant's statutorily imposed obligation to maintain a complete set of hospital records and to provide same to a patient upon timely and authorized demand. Ignoring this duty, the defendant simply concludes—without consideration for the aggrieved former patient—that the burden imposed upon it by the District Court of Appeal, Third District, is unfair. The opinion of the District Court of Appeal, Third District, should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

ON THIS RECORD THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR IN FINDING THE ABSENCE OF GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT.

Α.

PRELIMINARY OBSERVATIONS

The plaintiffs would suggest to this Court that the defendant has studiously placed the proverbial cart before the horse in making its argument. Irrespective of what the defendant asserts throughout its brief, this record establishes conclusively that at no stage of the proceedings did either the plaintiff or the District Court ignore this Court's mandate (See: Brief of Defendant, pages 13 and 14, citing to HINE v. FOX, 89 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 1956), that negligence will not be presumed but must be proven!).

It must be understood that the District Court, on the facts before it (all of the facts, not just those facts which the defendant believes are favorable to it), opined/held (only) that if it was shown (or could be shown--See: HOLL v. TALCOTT, supra) that (in a medical negligence action) plaintiff's (statutory) obligation/burden could not be met because the defendant (health care provider) caused--either through intentional or negligent acts--the loss of evidence (to-wit: medical records, the nature and extent of which the Florida Legislature mandated must not only be kept but also produced to the patient upon demand)--the substance of which plaintiff needed in order to

carry his burden—which loss prevents the plaintiff from meeting his burden [without said evidence plaintiff's experts cannot (as opposed to would not) formulate an opinion establishing that the defendant's conduct departed from the legislatively prescribed "standard of care"], then the defendant (health care provider) should not be allowed to automatically "escape" responsibility but the burden of proof should shift and such health care provider:

"...shall have the burden of proving that the treatment which said missing records would reflect was performed non-negligently; and that where such health care provider intentionally fails to make or maintain such records, the treatment which such missing records would reflect should be deemed negligent and the provider adjudged liable."

Because the opinion of the District Court makes eminently good sense, it should be approved and then adopted by this Court.

Assuming this Court chooses to disagree with certain portions of the District Court's opinion, the result reached by the District Court should, in all respects be affirmed and the cause remanded for jury resolution of the disputed factual matters. In point of fact it is clear that the defendant did not carry its burden as to Counts II and III of the plaintiffs' complaint. Hence, the summary final judgment appealed—as it relates to Counts II and III of the plaintiffs' complaint—should be reversed.

FLORIDA LAW, RE: SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND APPELLATE REVIEW

As a direct consequence of the defendant's decision to view the facts of this case in a light most favorable to it-ignoring plaintiffs' decisional law right to have the record viewed in a light most favorable to it--the following is submitted.

In HOLL v. TALCOTT, supra, this Court stated that on appeal from a summary final judgment the appellant is entitled to have the record viewed in the light most favorable to her with every reasonable inference of fact and intendment of testimony being indulged in her favor and against the party who has moved for (and obtained) summary judgment. The party moving for summary judgment has the burden of showing conclusively the non-existence of genuine issues of material fact. Ιf the existence of such issues, or the possibility of their existence, is reflected by the court file, it is reversible error for a trial court judge to grant the motion and enter summary final judgment thereon. Further, if the existence of fact issues or the possibility of their existence is reflected by the record, or the record raises even the slightest doubt in this regard, the summary final judgment must be reversed on appeal and the cause remanded for a full trial on all issues. E.g., WILLS v. SEARS, ROEBUCK & COMPANY, 351 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 1977); WILLIAMS v. FLORIDA REALTY & MANAGEMENT COMPANY, 171 So. 2d 176 (Fla.App.3d 1973); LAMPMAN v. CITY OF NORTH MIAMI, 109

So. 2d 273 (Fla.App.3d 1968). See also: VISINGARDI v. TIRONE, 193 So. 2d 601 (Fla. 1967).

It was recognized in WILLIAMS v. FLORIDA REALTY & MANAGE-MENT COMPANY, supra, at page 177:

"When a defendant moves for a summary judgment, the trial court does not determine whether the plaintiff can prove (his) case but only whether the pleadings, depositons and affidavits conclusively show that (he) cannot prove (his) case."

In CONNELL v. SLEDGE, 306 So. 2d 194 (Fla.App.lst 1975), the First District Court of Appeal summarized the rules regarding summary judgment and made the following observations:

- A summary judgment proceeding is not a trial by affidavit or deposition.
- 2. A summary judgment may be granted only in cases where there is no issue of material fact.
- 3. The allegations of the complaint (when the defendant moves for summary judgment) must be accepted, for the purposes of the motion, as true.
- 4. If the pleadings, depositions, answers to the interrogatories, admissions, affidavits and other evidence in the file raise the <u>slightest doubt</u> upon <u>any issue</u> of material fact, then a summary judgment may not be entered.
- 5. A party against whom a summary judgment is sought <u>is</u>
 not required to file a counter-affidavit in order to defeat the motion.

In FONTAINBLEAU HOTEL CORPORATION v. SOUTHERN FLORIDA HOTEL AND MOTEL ASSOCIATION, 294 So. 2d 390 (Fla.App.3d 1974),

the Court had occasion to state:

"It is axiomatic that summary judgments should be granted with great caution and where there exist issues which are in conflict as reflected by the pleadings, and the record before the trial court supports the conflict in factual matters, a summary judgment should not be granted." 294 So. 2d at p. 390.

More recently, it was recognized in DAWSON v. SCHEBEN, 351 So. 2d 367 (Fla.App.4th 1977), that even if some facts are not <u>in dispute</u>, where different inferences might be drawn from some of the undisputed facts, summary judgment is improper.

Regarding the often relied upon "presumption of correctness" usually accorded a trial court order sought to be
reviewed, this Court, in WILLS, supra, stated:

"Mindful as we are of the presumption of correctness which attaches to an order of the trial court, nevertheless we must draw every possible inference in favor of the party against whom the motion is made. . . " 351 So. 2d at p. 32.

С.

"CONSENT"--ON THIS RECORD, PROPERLY VIEWED--NEITHER INFORMED NOR FREELY GIVEN

At page 34 of its brief the defendant, in presenting argument in support of its second point on appeal, urges <u>District</u>

<u>Court error</u> in its "holding" that a jury was entitled to find that plaintiff's consent to surgery was procured by fraud where plaintiff never alleged that she was fraudulently induced to undergo surgery. The precise legal error:

"The decision of the Third District raised and decided the issue of fraudulent misrepresentation, for the first time on appeal. Because the issue of fraudulent misrepresentation was not an issue in the

trial court, the trial judge never had the opportunity to consider the issue. Because the issue was never tendered to the trial court, it was not available to the Third District to decide on appeal . . . " See: Brief of Defendant, pages 36 and 37.

The plaintiff would respectfully disagree with the conclusion reached.

First, it may be observed that (<u>former</u>) § 768.46(4)(a) provided:

"A consent which is evidenced in writing and meets the requirements of Subsection (3) shall, if validly signed by the patient or another authorized person, be conclusively presumed to be a valid consent. THIS PRESUMPTION MAY BE REBUTTED IF THERE WAS A FRAUDULENT MISREPRESENTATION OF A MATERIAL FACT IN OBTAINING THE SIGNATURE."

Contrary to what the defendant asserts, there exists <u>no authority</u> to support the defendant's <u>theory</u> that a plaintiff seeking to establish defense responsibility for damages sustained as the result of an alleged failure to obtain "informed consent" need <u>allege</u> in his (or her) complaint an independent cause of action for "fraud." Nor does there appear to be any authority anywhere requiring the plaintiff to allege "fraud" in order to obtain the benefit of the statutorily created "presumption." See, for example: Florida Standard Jury Instruction 4.2(b)--Professional Negligence and elements contained therein.

Further, the pertinent section of the above cited statute was held <u>unconstitutional</u> in the case of CUNNINGHAM v. PARIKH, 472 So. 2d 746 (Fla.App.5th 1985) because:

"Subsection (4)(a) requires the consent to be in writing and to meet the requirements of subsection (3), since it goes on to say that if validly signed by the patient, the consent shall be conclusively presumed to be a valid consent. This presumption may be rebutted only if there was a fraudulent misrepresentation of a material fact in obtaining the patient's signature. The plaintiff cannot prove that the action of the physician was not in compliance with subsection (3) since the statute raises a conclusive presumption that the written consent is valid in the absence of fraud. Accordingly, the conclusive presumption in § 768.46(4)(a), Florida Statutes, is unconstitutional.

"The unconstitutionality of this presumption is not eliminated or relieved by the statutory provision permitting a rebuttal when the patient's signature is obtained by a fraudulent misrepresentation of a material fact. The physician's duty to timely and adequately inform the patient is an affirmative duty requiring an affirmative act. Thus, this duty can be breached by a mere nonaction, omission or nonfeasance. A breach of this duty does not require an affirmative act or misfeasance or malfeasance, such as the making of an affirmative misrepresentation of a material fact by the physician. The statutorily presumed fact is that the physician timely and adequately performed his affirmative duty to properly advise the Therefore, the provision permitting the patient. patient to rebut the statutory presumption only by showing that the patient's consent was obtained by a fraudulent misrepresentation of a material fact is neither logically nor legally adequate to meet, refute or rebut the statutorily 'conclusive' presumption that the physician did timely and adequately perform his affirmative duty to properly advise the patient." 472 So. 2d at pp. 747 and 748.

Further, the Legislature, responding to the judicial fiat of CUNNINGHAM, supra, did, effective October 1, 1985, amend \$ 768.46(4)(a) so that it now provides:

"A consent which is evidenced in writing and meets the requirements of subsection (3) shall, if validly signed by the patient or another authorized person, RAISE A REBUTTABLE PRESUMPTION OF A VALID CONSENT."

Because an appellate court must apply the law in the State as it exists at the time of appellate disposition, it is clear the foundation for the defendant's argument no longer exists. has long been recognized in this State that where a statute or principle of law that is controlling or material to the merits of an action is repealed, or the law otherwise is changed, during the pendency of the cause, the law as so changed then becomes applicable and controlling in trial and decision of the action. This rule has been applied even where the change in the law occurred after judgment but during the pendency of a direct appeal therefrom. See, for example: FLORIDA EAST COAST RAILWAY COMPANY v. ROUSE, 194 So. 2d 260 (Fla. 1966); INGERSON v. STATE FARM MUTUAL AUTOMOBILE INSURANCE COMPANY, 272 So. 2d 862 (Fla.App.3d 1973) and SEABOARD COASTLINE RAILROAD COMPANY v. CAMPBELL, 285 So. 2d 62 (Fla.App.lst 1973), wherein the Court stated:

"Since the primary point urged for reversal in the case at bar rests upon the failure to give an instruction based on a statute which has since been repealed, the statute can hardly be said to be controlling law of this case. . ." 285 So. 2d at p. 62.

The plaintiff would suggest to this Court the issue (of the need to plead "fraud") is moot.

Additionally, properly viewing the facts and circumstances of this case in a light most favorable to the non-moving plaintiff, See: HOLL v. TALCOTT, supra, and CONNELL v. SLEDGE, supra, plaintiff's deposition itself demonstrates genuine

issues of material fact concerning "guarantees" and "informed" consent. The defendant's second point presented for review is without merit and District Court reversal of the summary final judgment appealed should be approved.

D.

PLAINTIFFS' EXPERT AND THE STANDARD OF CARE

In Point III of its brief (which point is indisputedly intertwined with defendant's Point I, defendant studiously separating the two for obvious reasons), defendant urges the correctness of trial court granting of the defendant's motion for summary final judgment because:

"... The record revealed without conflict that plaintiff was without necessary expert testimony to substantiate the allegations of her complaint." (Brief of Defendant, pages 37 and 38).

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